# SpinWatch

# The 'Big Food' Takeover of British Agriculture



# Contents

Conte	ents	2
Glossary		
1.	Introduction	
2.	A Good Old Curry	5
3.	What Has Happened Since Curry?	6
3.1	Supermarkets Have Got Stronger	
3.2	Greater Supermarket Power = Greater Downward Pressure on Prices = Farmers are Forced Out of	of
Busin	ess	9
3.3	Food Imports Have Increased	11
4.	Why Has Curry Failed?	12
4.1	Its Remit Was Flawed.	12
4.2	Big Remains Beautiful – the 'Big Food' Mentality Wins	13
4.3	An Export Agency Promotes Local Food	15
4.4	Those who Control British Agriculture Believe in the Free Market/Globalised Economy	16
4.5	Attempts to 'Reconnect Farmers' Have Been Thwarted	18
4.6	A Flawed Response To the Consumer - The Little Red Tractor	19
4.7	Real Local Food Initiatives Have Also Been Thwarted	20
4.8	Farmgate Prices Remain Low.	23
4.9	The NFU is Too Close to the Supermarkets	24
5	In Spite of Curry There Have Been Successes.	26
References		28

By Andy Rowell

### Glossary

BRC – British Retail Consortium

CIWF – Compassion in World Farming

Defra – Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

EFFP - English Farming and Food Partnerships

EU - European Union

FOE - Friends of the Earth

FFA – Farmers For Action

FDF – Food and Drink Federation

FFB – Food From Britain

FMD – Foot and Mouth Disease

IGD - Institute of Grocery Distribution

MDC - Milk Development Council

MLC - Meat and Livestock Commission

NAFM – National Association of Farmers' markets

NFWI – National Federation of Women's Institutes

NFU – National Farmers' Union

NSPCC – National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children

OFT – Office of Fair Trading

RSPB – Royal Society for the Protection of Birds

SWLFP - South West Local Food Partnership

SWFD - South West Food and Drink

SWRDA – South West Rural Development Agency

WTO – World Trade Organisation

#### Acknowledgements

This report grew out of work funded by *The Ecologist* magazine



# The 'Big Food' Takeover of British Agriculture

#### 1. Introduction

In October 2005, Sir Donald Curry, the man spear-heading the revival of British agriculture, addressed an industry conference talking about his favourite theme: reconnecting the British consumer with what they eat.

Surrounded by various supermarket executives, Curry said: 'Reconnecting the public with the food they eat and how it is produced is one of my key challenges for 2005 and beyond. It is essential that we have a better understanding of consumers' attitudes if we are to develop an effective communications strategy'.<sup>1</sup>

For those who are concerned about the future of British agriculture, Curry has failed in his mission. Whilst he has consistently talked about the need for reconnection since his first report was published in 2002, the policies that he has encouraged have done the opposite. They have fed into the neo-liberal model of economic development – the need to be more internationally competitive, the need to pander to the supermarkets and other large multinational food businesses, that we have labelled 'big food' in this report.

The 'big food' model of development is neither economically or environmentally sustainable – it is not what consumers want either. Neither is the big food model the only way forward for agriculture. There is a whole array of alternative business models available for the government and Curry, namely the local food sector, where reconnection is guaranteed between farmer and consumer. However, at the October conference, key delegates kept muddying the waters between what is meant by local food and regional food. It all fits into a pattern of local food being undermined, whilst supermarket food is supported. Local food looses, big food wins.

The measures introduced by Curry have done precious little to address the underlying causes of the problems facing British agriculture. For example, the power of the 'big food' sector remains unchecked. Supermarket power, especially Tesco's, has never been stronger. Farmgate prices remain low. Farmers continue to leave the industry at an astonishing rate.

In fact Curry is one of a small band of elite who are all connected through different boards and committees, who control British agriculture. They continue to steer British agriculture on an unsustainable course. This elite contains the higher echelons of the NFU, an organisation that should be protecting British farmers, not undermining them. They are steering British agriculture in a direction that benefits the supermarkets at the expense of our farmers and small businesses. Big food wins as our farmers go bust.

Curry and his cabal are steering it in a direction that puts profit and the drive for international competitiveness above all else – forgetting the other values that were meant to be included in a Post-Curry world – reconnection, local food, sustainability, healthy eating, and a fair return for farmers. As big food wins, it is consumers who loose out. So what has gone wrong? Read this SpinWatch report into the crisis in the countryside.

#### 2. A Good Old Curry

The Curry report was commissioned by the Labour government during the height of the foot and mouth (FMD) crisis in 2001. That Easter one million dead animals lay in the fields awaiting burial or burning. Lives and livelihoods had been destroyed. The Labour government was under severe pressure as the countryside boiled with anger. The press ran rampant with stories of farming in crisis with the government's incompetence to blame for the spread of the disease. Such was the political and economic fall-out, the government had to act and act fast.

Don Curry was an ideal candidate to lead an investigation into farming. He had been an integral part of the British farming establishment for years, with a long history with the Meat and Livestock Commission, a government quango, including being a MLC Commissioner in 1986, and Chair from 1994. The MLC's 'paramount duty is to promote greater efficiency in the livestock industry and the livestock products industry'. Following its line of duty, the MLC was criticised during the BSE crisis for issuing 'statements which were not scientifically correct' and for falling 'short of the objectivity that should have been shown by a statutory body with a duty to have regard to the interests of the consumer'.

It was part of this drive for efficiency and rationalisation that had led to the closure of many small and medium sized abattoirs under Curry's watch at the MLC. Here was a man who understood the need for an efficient farming and streamlined system that suited the supermarkets. Here was a man who understood the needs of the 'big food' system.

There are two other links of interest with Curry and the MLC. There has also been a close relationship between the MLC and Food From Britain, another quasi-governmental agency whose primary aim is to export as much food as possible from the UK. It is an organisation that would later benefit from the Curry Commission. Curry's predecessor as chairman of the MLC, Geoffrey John, moved to become chairman of Food From Britain in 1993<sup>4</sup>. Curry was appointed to the Council of Food From Britain for three years in 1994, staying for at least six years<sup>5</sup>. Here was a man who believed in the neo-liberal model of low cost competing internationally.

From the late nineties, Curry had been appointed as a director of NFU Mutual, the powerful insurance company that links into the NFU<sup>6</sup>. He is now the non-executive Chairman of the NFU Mutual Insurance Company. The link between NFU Mutual and the NFU runs more deeply than many people think, with the two organisations closely intertwined. They even run joint companies together.

So Curry was not just a government-insider, he was an NFU insider, but he would lead an 'independent' commission. In August 2001, the 'Policy Commission On The Future Of Farming And Food' was announced, headed by Curry. It became known as the Curry Commission. It was meant to be the biggest revamp of agricultural policy since the War. The committee's remit was, in part, to 'advise the Government on how we can create a sustainable, competitive and diverse farming and food sector.'

The Commission identified that the 'key objective of public policy should be to reconnect our food and farming industry; to reconnect farming with its market and the rest of the food

chain; to reconnect the food chain and the countryside; and to reconnect consumers with what they eat and how it is produced.'

'In our vision of the future' the Commission continued, 'farmers continue to receive payment from the public purse, but only for public benefits that the public wants and needs. They are technically efficient and run profitable businesses. Through co-operation and collaboration they have invested beyond the farmgate, and they receive a fair return for the food they produce.'

When the report was published to a fan-fare of publicity in January 2002 with over 100 recommendations the central theme of the report reflected the objectives of the Commission: reconnection. Reconnecting farmers with their market and the rest of the food chain; Reconnecting the food chain with a healthy and attractive countryside; Reconnecting consumers with what they eat and where it has come from.<sup>7</sup>

It was welcomed by many in the local food movement that finally thought here was a report that talked about many of the issues local food groups had long espoused. It also raised the idea of an alternative to the big food and supermarket system. 'The immediate aftermath of FMD and Curry report did raise the awareness of local food as being a significant alternative strategy for the whole food system in the UK,' argues Charles Couzens, a leading local food expert. But did this last?

The job of implementing Curry's recommendations – called the Implementation Group was also given to an organisation that was headed by Curry. 'I am very glad that Don Curry himself agreed to chair this group of distinguished outsiders,' wrote Tony Blair. Also in response, in the 2002 Spending Review, the government promised 'investment totalling over £500 million over three years will be available to support the key recommendations of the Policy Commission chaired by Sir Don Curry, and to improve animal health and welfare.'

Since then millions has been poured into British agriculture. But why nearly four years later is Curry still talking about the need for reconnection? And what about a fair return for farmers, a central theme of the Curry Commission?

# 3. What Has Happened Since Curry?

#### 3.1 Supermarkets Have Got Stronger

For farmers the situation of supermarket power has passed being critical. The profits of the big five supermarkets have risen 300 per cent in the past 15 years<sup>9</sup>. In the past three years, British supermarkets have got larger and stronger, especially the industry leader Tesco, which now takes one out of every seven and a half pounds spent with British retailers. In 2004, the company had over 28 per cent of the groceries market, which was up from 26.5 per cent the year before. In 2005, the figure had risen to over 30 per cent. Some predict it will soon be 40 per cent and growing. Tesco's rivals believe the company could control 42 or 43 per cent within the next six years - and possibly up to 47 per cent. They are even talking about 50 per cent. The company is now so big it is British agriculture's biggest customer.

But has the Curry Commission resulted in tighter control of supermarkets? No. Since 2002 there has been a voluntary 'Code of Practice on Supermarkets' after the Competition

Commission concluded that the large supermarkets were operating 'against the public interest', whilst reducing the choice and quality of goods. The existence of supermarket buying power had 'meant that the burden of cost increases in the supply chain has fallen disproportionately heavily on small suppliers such as farmers,' they concluded<sup>13</sup>.

In light of this, the Curry Commission recommended that the Office of Fair Trading (OFT) 'should undertake a full formal review of the workings of the new code two years after its introduction.'<sup>14</sup> The Government in turn committed the OFT to preparing an annual report on how the Code was working. The first such report by the OFT was published in February 2004. Its findings were staggering, concluding that '80 to 85 per cent of respondents claim the Code has failed to bring about any change in the supermarkets' behaviour'. Because of this the OFT commissioned 'further work to establish how supermarkets deal with suppliers under the Code'. <sup>15</sup> This was undertaken in the form of an audit.

Such is the concern about the strength of the supermarkets that there is an alliance of 14 farming, environmental and consumer organisations calling for stricter controls over the supermarkets' trading practices, particularly to stop them passing on unreasonable costs to farmers and growers in the UK and overseas. The Breaking the Armlock Alliance, as it is called, is demanding that the Government strengthen the Code of Practice on Supermarkets drawn up by the Competition Commission. <sup>16</sup> One of the leading groups is Friends of the Earth who were outraged by the OFT's review.

'There wasn't a need for an audit' argues Sandra Bell from FoE. 'They should have gone from the original conclusion in the review that it was not working to take action. There was enough evidence to tighten up the code and to make it statutory. This further investigation just seems to be a delaying tactic to prevent any action taking place'.

Furthermore there have been two major growth factors over the last three years that the OFT has failed to act on and were not in the original code. The growth of the major retailers in to non-food and the movement into the 'convenience sector' was not covered either, despite this happening at an alarming rate. Since Curry £1.25 billion has been spent on acquisitions of convenience stores by the big multiples, <sup>17</sup> leading the Managing Director of Spar UK to warn that customer choice will be seriously eroded unless there is government intervention. In 2005, Tesco alone added 60 new convenience stores.

But Tesco is not content with just selling food. It is also moving heavily into non-food items, consolidating its vice-like grip on the British retail market. In the first half of 2005, Tesco's non-food sales climbed 13% to £2.8bn. It is now one of the top three sellers of music, films and electronic games in the UK. It sells more beauty products than Boots and signs up 90,000 new banking customers a month. It has over 200 pharmacies. In September 2005 it opened its first completely non-food store in Manchester, called Tesco Homeplus. More will follow.

These trends have led to a chorus of voices speaking out. In October 2004, the Co-Op's chief general manager for strategy, John Bowes, called for a review of the grocery market following the wave of consolidations. 'Isn't there something dishonest about our retailing industry pledging support for the British farming industry whilst seeking the lowest-cost global supply from internet auctions?' he asked.<sup>20</sup> The same month the independent sector

asked the OFT to block the large supermarkets from being able to take over any smaller convenience stores.<sup>21</sup>

November 2004 saw the OFT's position being attacked by small retailers. 'It is farcical that an organisation set up to represent consumers is supporting the concept of superstore domination of the market', said that Federation of Wholesale Distributors. That same month the OFT was asked to open up a new investigation into the supermarket dominance by groups such as Friends of the Earth (FoE), Association of Convenience Stores, National Federation of Women's Institute's and Farm. Sandra Bell from FoE warned that the 'domination of the grocery market by the biggest supermarkets has been allowed to increase unchecked since the last investigation over four years ago'. Barbara Gill, the NFWI chair added that 'unfair practices of the biggest supermarkets were continuing unabated to the detriment of farmers and consumers'. <sup>23</sup>

Ironically, even the large supermarkets themselves now complain about Tesco. Wal-Mart, the world's biggest retailer that is under fire in the US for pricing its competitors out of business, has become so concerned about Tesco's size and power in the UK, that it has asked the government to intervene. 'As you get over 30% and higher I am sure there is a point where government is compelled to intervene, particularly in the UK, where you have the planning laws that make it difficult to compete', Lee Scott, Wal-Mart's President said in August 2005. 'At some point the government has to look at it.'<sup>24</sup> The new chairman of J Sainsbury, Philip Hampton, has also lobbied the OFT to stop Tesco's growing domination of the grocery market.<sup>25</sup>

Also in August 2005, the OFT concluded that the 'Supermarkets Code of Practice should remain unchanged but be used more effectively. Consumers are benefiting from competition in grocery retailing, and evidence has not come forward that the code is being breached.' The decision was widely criticised. Many argued that suppliers were too frightened to contact the OFT, because they would be blacklisted by the supermarkets. Blacklisting is where supermarkets refuse to use certain suppliers – so if you complain about their power, the supermarkets blacklist you, leaving a conspiracy of silence.

Ian Calderbank, a farmer from Essex, expressed the frustration felt by many. 'We will be forced to rely on dubious imports with environmentally damaging production methods and food miles, at prices that may well reflect the unstable nature of the world. As for consumer choice, what choice?'<sup>28</sup> In light of the decision, the NFU said it would push ahead with its 'Buyer's Charter,'<sup>29</sup> (see below) however it immediately ran into trouble when Tesco refused to commit to the initiative, leaving the policy essentially in tatters.<sup>30</sup>

In October 2005, there was a significant break-through when the OFT admitted that 'it did not properly carry out the review of the supermarkets sector' sought by Association of Convenience Stores, the Women's Institute and Friends of the Earth and others.<sup>31</sup> The following month, the former boss of the OFT called for a new investigation into supermarket power. John Bridgeman, who had headed the original Competition Commission inquiry in 2000 that actually cleared the supermarkets of abusing their market position, said the market had changed so much since then that a further inquiry was justified. He specifically expressed concern that Tesco had been allowed to enter the convenience and corner shop market. <sup>32</sup>

The OFT is now considering whether to refer supermarkets to the Competition Commission early next year.<sup>33</sup> Although the OFT may look, few believe it will actually act with enough regulatory vigour to stop Tesco's relentless expansion. Therefore there is no stopping the Tesco juggernaut. We will soon live in Tescoland.

# 3.2 Greater Supermarket Power = Greater Downward Pressure on Prices = Farmers are Forced Out of Business

Why should you care about how large Tesco's market share is? Simply, the greater the share the more power that it can use to squeeze suppliers and farmers. This consolidation of power is rightly worrying rank and file farmers across the land. A series of leaked NFU documents, obtained exclusively by SpinWatch, shows just how worried farmers are. The first document is a NFU Information and Analysis one. It notes that supermarket 'consolidation in recent years combined with the growth in market share by the major supermarkets is a cause for concern amongst many of the NFU's members. There is the belief that there is now an imbalance of power in the supply chain and this power is being abused.'<sup>34</sup>

The supermarkets can abuse their buying power to exert a determined down-wards pressure on prices that is passed on to farmers. The second leaked NFU document shows that it is 'inevitable that downward price pressure at retail level will feed through eventually to downward pressure at farmgate level.'<sup>35</sup>

This is happening and expected to get worse. The third document from 2005 notes: 'The dramatic changes in the food chain, which have taken place in the past year particularly in terms of consolidation and unrelenting price pressure, are set to continue if not intensify in 2006.'<sup>36</sup>

No where has the downward price pressure been more intense than with the dairy industry. As Tesco makes nearly £40 million a week in profit, sixty per cent of dairy farmers do not even make a profit.<sup>37</sup> As a result seven dairy farmers a week go out of business.<sup>38</sup> The dairy industry is literally dying day by day. A report published by the Milk Development Council in August 2004 warned that 'over the past ten years farmgate prices and farm margins have fallen, dairy processor margins have remained fairly constant, whilst retailer margins have increase across all products.' <sup>39</sup>

Just under a year later there was another devastating report into the state of the British dairy industry. Written by Professor David Colman from Manchester University, it examined the fortunes of 369 dairy farmers in England and Wales between April 03 and April 05. It came to some alarming conclusions:

- Over twelve per cent of dairy farmers had quit during the survey time period: nearly another ten per cent said they would be quitting within five years; with just under another ten percent being uncertain that they would remain in the industry.
- The Professor noted that 'not only did more farms cease production between April 2003 and April 2005 than had intended to do so in 2003, there was a higher concentration of more profitable and larger herds among those that quit.'

• Colman called the findings 'disturbing'. He wrote that the 'scale of the exodus suggests that there will be a more significant downturn in milk production in England' although it would be slightly better in Wales. Still by 2007/8, there would be one billion litre short-fall in milk production. 'In terms of three scenarios published earlier this year, it seems likely that the most pessimistic of the three will prevail. That is that total UK output will fall to around 13.3 billion litres in 2007/8, as against a national quota at that time of 14.41 billion.'40

Two months after Colman's report was published, the Scottish National Farmers' Union warned that the dire situation in dairy farmer was not just south of the border. 'Over the last six years, 1 in 4 Scottish dairy farmers have gone out of business,' it said. The Scottish NFU warned that the 'price war' between supermarkets was 'killing' the Scottish dairy industry. The message to the supermarkets was stark: end the price war or face losing your supply base altogether. <sup>41</sup>

British farming continues to be in a state of crisis across all sectors. Nearly 20,000 agricultural jobs were lost in 2002, the year the Curry Commission was published.<sup>42</sup> Total income from farming fell in 2003 by 2.6 per cent in real terms compared to 2003 – average farm incomes are now £16,000.<sup>43</sup> The following year, 2004, total farm income fell 5.4% to £3bn.<sup>44</sup> Farm debt is at record levels – standing at some £8.5 billion.<sup>45</sup>

The pig industry is also in trouble with 36 per cent less pigs being reared in the UK in 2004, compared to twenty years earlier. British pig farmer's cannot compete with cheaper imports. Nor can British beef farmers. The whole industry remains in crisis. Figures released in November 2005 by Deloitte showed that farming incomes were down a fifth since last year, with farmers making a loss on each acre farmed. 'The actual business of producing food is expected to generate an average loss next year of £35 per acre', reported the BBC's rural affairs correspondent Tom Heap. 46

It is not surprising that farmers across the land are angry. 'I have to admit to being made angry by the system which we are part of' says John Thorley, the head of the 25,000 strong National Sheep Association. 'Angry that the Tesco's of this world can turn in a massive profit, maintain the forecast that prices will continue to fall to consumers, but fail to inform anyone that lower prices to consumers and higher profits for the company are only likely to be achieved by paying less money to the primary producer'. Others are worried too: 'We remain deeply concerned that inequality of profit shares within the food chain is worsening', adds Mark Hudson, from the Country Land and Business Association. 47

George Dunn from the Tenants Farmers Association reiterates an industry-wide concern since Curry: 'What I think is very sad is that the enthusiasm and forward thinking aspects of Curry have not been taken forward in any real way. The principle driver that Curry saw for the rejuvenation of British agriculture was reconnection of farmers with consumers and we have seen precious little of that at the beginning of Curry process. There has been a lot of emphasis on the food chain, but it appears to stop about the supermarket point and doesn't engage with consumers.'

#### 3.3 Food Imports Have Increased

As our farmers go to the wall, food imports have increased by over 25 per cent since the early nineties according to the Office of National Statistics. Imports of beef were higher in 2004 than 2003 with imports of pork and lamb 'significantly higher'. Exports of Brazilian beef to the UK were nearly 70 per cent higher in the first half of 2005, compared to the previous year. However, in October 2005, British authorities announced that imports of Brazilian beef were being banned from two regions of the country due to a Foot and Mouth outbreak. The National Beef Association, though, complained that the disease could still be introduced in vaccinated cattle. Sources within the industry have told SpinWatch that once the crisis is over Tesco plans to import vastly more Brazilian beef to supply its main beef ranges, leaving British beef as a small-volume exclusive sideline.

The company is just continuing a trend that has been going on for years. In 2004, Defra had released figures showing that UK farmers' share of the retail value of a food basket fell by 28% between 1988 and 2003 from 47% to 34%. It is not as if we have not been warned. Peter Davis when still CEO of Sainsburys' warned of a 'massive escalation in the sourcing of overseas products and that there was a danger that the Curry reports recommendations would "founder on the altar of retail competition".'

Internal NFU bulletins warn that 'intense price competition among major supermarkets' will only intensify resulting in 'lower prices being paid' to suppliers. 'All major retailers are or have plans to source primary agricultural products from outside Europe. <sup>52</sup> Or outside the UK. In September 2004 Tesco announced it was buying 20% more Irish food and drink than two years ago for its UK stores. <sup>53</sup>

The flood of imports has led some groups to speak out. 'It is impossible to import more beef without reducing quality and assurance standards,' argues the National Beef Association. The NFU has come to the supermarket's defence, telling people to stop attacking the supermarkets. 'You do not slag off your customer', replied the NFU's Robin Tapper.<sup>54</sup>

At the industry conference in October 2005 that was addressed by Curry, new research that had been commissioned by him was published. Funded by Asda, Sainsburys, Tescos, Waitrose and the NFU, it had been undertaken by the Institute of Grocery Distribution – the IGD – which is closely associated with the supermarkets. The research purported to show that 'Only 1 in 10 [customers] highlight country of origin as one of their five most important drivers of purchase ... In contrast, price, taste, sell-by-date, brand, health and appearance all feature heavily, and much more so than production related factors.' Over 50 per cent of consumers could not care where their food came from at all.<sup>55</sup>

This is the kind of research that the supermarkets want: it was essentially saying that a whole host of factors were more important than whether the product was local or even British: it gives them a justifiable excuse to carry on sourcing from overseas. That will only be to the detriment of British farming. It is also the kind of research that, if true, shows that Curry has systematically failed over the last few years to reconnect British consumers with British farmers. If he had succeeded, British consumers would rank buying local food as one of their most important factors. They would care if their local farmer went bust or not.

So instead of getting better, by many important indicators, British agriculture is worse off today than it was four years ago. Everything has a knock-on effect: The more produce is flown in from overseas, the more the climate suffers, the more our farmers suffer, especially the smaller family farms. The fabric of rural life is worn away. The less self-sufficient we become.

It does not have to be this way. Tom Rigby a dairy farmer from Warrington who has watched the decimation of dairy farmers in his area, says simply: 'The UK has fertile soil, a good climate, efficient farmers and 60 million customers on our doorstep so there is no reason we should be in such a crisis.' So what has gone wrong and why has Curry failed?

#### 4. Why Has Curry Failed?

#### 4.1 Its Remit Was Flawed

Whilst some groups welcomed Curry's conclusions, others argued that its original remit was flawed. Logic would have it that if the original remit was flawed then the solutions would be flawed too.

'As a farmer and the head of a farming organisation, it is very hard to identify anything or anywhere where Curry has made a difference – it goes back to two reasons we criticised it in the first place,' argues Michael Hart from the Small and Family Farms Alliance and a farmer from Cornwall. 'First of all you have to realise that it is only England – it is really only an English document and does not take into account Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. Secondly it did not take into account the enlargement of the EU and the WTO – they were specifically precluded from its remit.'

'It is impossible to see any tangible benefits,' adds Hart, 'that you can say yes it made a difference. It's not going to help control the supermarkets and their power. It hasn't put a penny more in farmers' pockets. I don't think it has actually achieved anything'.

Ken Martyn is a farmer from Gloucester who agrees with Hart: 'It failed to address the unsustainable low farmgate price .. It failed to address the problem caused by the supermarkets willingness to import from the cheapest source, while demanding ever increasing standards from the home producer.' <sup>56</sup>

John Thorley from the National Sheep Association is also critical of Curry: 'Curry did the industry a serious disservice. It didn't home in on issues that really mattered. It was almost as if he was producing something that would satisfy the government. I think he has done that. I think the government is highly satisfied. But what is has done for the industry and the country – it has to be negative, because there was an opportunity to do something really good, instead it is an extension of fiddling whilst Rome burns.'

The bottom line is that you can't reconnect with the consumer in a sustainable local way while at the same time being internationally competitive in a global playing field. You cannot protect farmers and small producers until you curb the power of the supermarkets and the flood of cheap imports. You cannot ask your own farms to join expensive "assurance schemes" when cheaper imported produce does not have to be assured.

Paul Sander Jackson who heads Somerset Food Links is a pioneer of local food. His organisation was set up in 1999 to help develop a thriving local trade in locally produced food throughout Somerset.<sup>57</sup>

He argues it is very difficult to square the dual goals of international competitiveness and sustainable food production. 'The government does not seem willing to curb the corporate stranglehold, certainly on the retail sector,' he argues. 'If they can't regard Tesco having a 30% market share and then acquiring neighbourhood stores as something approaching a monopoly, then I think that is going to sign the death knell for small producers, for retail diversity and for sustainable farming and food.'

# 4.2 Big Remains Beautiful – the 'Big Food' Mentality Wins

Although supermarket control is devastating British agriculture, the cabal that controls British agriculture believes that supermarkets and agri-business are the way forward. That 'big food' represents the future. They believe putting profit and the drive for international competitiveness above all else – forgetting the other values that were meant to be included in a Post-Curry world – reconnection, local food, sustainability, healthy eating, and a fair return for farmers. It is the direction that got us into this mess into the first place. Many of the post-Curry new institutions that are directing British agriculture are implementing schemes that benefit supermarkets. They benefit 'big food' to the detriment of British farmers.

There are pro-big food organisations that have received significant funding from government. A recipient of over £2.3 million in tax-payers money has been the Food Chain Centre (FCC) that was launched to 'help build more effective and efficient supply chains'. It is housed in the Institute of Grocery Distribution, which is joined at the hip with the supermarkets. It represents the interests of big food. Asda, Sainsburys, and Tescos are all on IGD's Board of Trustees. The current President of the IGD is David Reid, the non Executive Chairman of Tesco. <sup>59</sup>

The Food Chain Centre has a Steering group that is stacked in favour of farming /food chain interests with only 2 out of the 13 members representing consumer groups. The current chair of the Food Chain Centre is none other than the IGD Chief Executive Joanne Denney-Finch.<sup>60</sup>

If you look at the press releases the FCC has issued, they are predominantly about improving efficiency of the supply chain and benchmarking which are key concepts that help supermarkets reduce costs, they do not assist farmers become more sustainable. Carol Trewin is an award-winning journalist who also worked for Taste of the West, a regional food group in the Westcountry. 'I feel the people who are going to benefit most from benchmarking are the supermarkets,' she says.

The Food Chain Centre is a 'co-founder' of the Cereals Industry Forum. In September 2003, this Forum was awarded a major Government grant of £1.4m over three years to 'improve efficiency and competitiveness in the grain chain'. Earlier in 2003 the Food Chain Centre was awarded £500,000 to look at improving the efficiency of the milk supply chain. 62

The partners in the milk supply project included the NFU, the Milk Development Council, the Dairy Industry Association, British Retail Consortium (BRC), and the Cardiff Business School. The Cardiff consultants are from the Lean Enterprise Research Centre, a centre for

excellence on 'lean' thinking, a set of ideas pioneered by Toyota to improved efficiency in producing cars. It has a vocabulary such as 'Muda' - an activity that creates waste or no value or 'Poka-yoke' - a mistake-proofing device. All these initiatives feed into the so-called 'efficient' big food system.

The key academic at the Lean Centre is David Simons who worked with Tesco on a five-year research programme that facilitated 'lean thinking' within the Supply Chain Development Group at Tesco, which aimed to achieve £100 million savings<sup>63</sup>. Simon is also co-director of the Food Process Innovation Unit at Cardiff that works closely with another Curry initiative, called the Red Meat Industry Forum, which has received over £5.3 million to improve the competitiveness of the British Meat Industry.<sup>64</sup>

In June 2004 a major new study by the Food Chain Centre and the Red Meat Industry Forum claimed to have discovered potential savings of up to 20% across the pork sausage supply chain. Participants included Tesco and their main suppliers, including pig farmer Jon Easy. The results were welcomed by Tesco and the Food Chain Centre but dismissed by the farmer who actually took part. 'I think it is unlikely that any of the potential savings discovered will flow back to farmers in future, unless there is a huge change in the whole industry,' Jon Easy said. In October 2005, the Red Meat Industry Forum received a further £1.5 million from the government, as part of a £8 million package to try and revitalise the British beef sector. But without the government tackling the growing imports of beef, the measures will be seen as too little too late.

Another post-Curry institution is called English Farming and Food Partnerships (EFFP), which has received over £3.41 Million from Defra. Its role is to 'strengthen profitability, competitiveness and sustainability of England's farming and food industry'. It does this by growing farmer-controlled businesses and developing co-operation not only between farmers but also between farmers and the rest of the food chain.<sup>67</sup>

Once again the usual suspects control it. Its CEO is Sion Roberts, who is the ex-Chief Economist at the NFU. The chair of EFFP is Jeremy Pope who is a brewer and solicitor. He is the former Chief Executive of the family brewing company, Eldridge Pope, and now the Deputy Chair of the South West Regional Development Agency. 68

Insight can be gleamed from EFFP's direction when in April 2004, EFFP appointed two new board directors, including Chris Blundell from Morrisons. Just two weeks earlier, Blundell had been defending Morrison's price-cutting against farmers<sup>69</sup>. Morrisons were also embroiled in a controversy in Shetland having cancelled the contract of a local fishmonger, Rita McNab, who had laid off two workers as a result. The move infuriated the local community and McNab's customers who 'continue to ask me why our fish is not being sold in the supermarket anymore'. Elsewhere other consumers complained that 'since Morrisons took over Safeway I am finding it difficult to purchase UK grown vegetables. Most of the fresh vegetables are from all over the world apart from the UK'. <sup>71</sup>

EFFP's 'Associate Members' include some of the largest 'big food' companies in the country: 3663, ASDA, Dairy Crest, Grampian Country Food Group, McDonald's, Morrisons, Somerfield, Tesco, United Biscuits and Waitrose. 72

#### 4.3 An Export Agency Promotes Local Food

The vehicle for funding the 'regional food' movement since Curry has been a publicly-funded consultancy called Food From Britain (FFB). Described as a "quasi-governmental agency", essentially it is an export agency, whose clients have included: Ashbury Confectionery, Britain's third largest confectionery, Britvic Fruitshoot, and Dormen Snack Foods. They, critics argue, can an organisation designed to export reconnect British farmers with British consumers?

Look at their web-site and even under the regional foods head-line, the second link after 'Events' is 'Guide to Exporting', which states: 'The Guide to Exporting for Regional Food & Drink Producers has been prepared by FFB as part of the Defra funded campaign to promote the UK's regional food & drink industry'.

In 2002 the remuneration of Gordon Summerfield, the FFB Chairman was £47,423 per annum, for a two-day week. Summerfield is also a Director of Arla Foods, the UK's leading dairy company. Arla UK is the sole British distributor of both Arla's Lurpak brand and Anchor, which sells 61 million packs of New Zealand butter each year, which will directly compete with British butter manufacturers.

In a devastating critique of its operations, the Soil Association argued in 2003 that FFB had 'failed' to understand the objectives and nature of the local food sector, and was 'actually undermining existing initiatives' and 'seriously failing' it. FFB did 'not seem to have an understanding of food quality', and was acting as a 'free marketing service for large food businesses'.

There was also a criticism that goes to the heart of the local food debate: FFB 'seems to confuse the development of local food economies with the promotion of regional speciality food. Food links organisations are really trying hard on a micro-business scale – generating new business, start-up new food procurement operations, linking up to new initiatives such as Community supported agriculture; assisting low input and organic farming. The Food from Britain side is taking successful businesses on a regional or national scale. It gets away from food miles. It is about making existing business bigger. It misses the point'. 74

Others agree: 'Perhaps the Curry report's most fundamental flaw was the misinterpretation of the term "sustainability," argues James Pavitt, the ex-coordinator of the National Association of Farmers' Markets (NAFM). 'Food From Britain are not about sustainability in the broader sense. FFB are about economic sustainability, certainly not social and definitely not environmental. For example, if you look at FFB's objective for "regionality food marketing" there are no environmental or social benefits at all. You only get environmental and social benefits with truly local food, in my experience the more local the better'.

However Defra gave FFB an extra £3 million over three years to promote regional food, not local food-links initiatives. The person in charge of FFB's regional food strategy is Jane Wakeling, who worked as a trader for Sainsburys for 18 years before joining Food From Britain. Wakeling maintains though that it is doing a good job and in its first year generated over £2.2 million in sales.

But the regional food groups have received a paltry £90,000 each and only £207,000 on Consumer Awareness. This is a tiny amount compared to the sums routinely spent by industry on brand promotion. For example, Danone spent £2 million promoting Activia yoghurt during its 2005 advertising campaign, and GlaxosmithKline spent £3 million on its drink Lucozade Energy in an Autmn 2004 ad campaign. Even Green and Black, the organic chocolate company, spent £1 million on advertising before Christmas in 2004.

FFB was also forced to defend its 'modest' financial contribution to British Food Fortnight, the nation's biggest food promotion event in the autumn of 2004, which was 'under threat' due to lack of funding. Its co-ordinator Alexia Robinson warned that 'British Food Fortnight is so under-funded it's a joke.' The 2005 British Food Fortnight was instead primarily sponsored by Nationwide, the Department of Health and the supermarket chains Booths and Budgens. In 2005 Tim Bennett, the NFU's President, joined FFB's Council, keeping the small cabal who control British agriculture intact.

# 4.4 Those who Control British Agriculture Believe in the Free Market/Globalised Economy.

In a post-Curry world you would think that the focus of any government organisation would be on the theme that Donald Curry flagged at the October 2005 IGD Conference: reconnection. Reconnecting consumers with farmers. This could be done by a whole plethora of means, including marketing, promotion and finance. But this is not always the case. The South West Regional Development Agency set up a 'one-stop' organisation to promote the region's food and drink sector in 2002 called South West Food and Drink (SWFD). The main focus of SWFD was to assist firms in the south west with 'marketing/distribution of products to their customers'.

Many people working in the sector attended a seminar run by South West Food and Drink in June 2004 in Exeter. A few eyebrows were raised by the joint sponsor of the conference, the Food and Drink Federation (FDF), the powerful big food lobby group. The seminar was called 'Identifying Opportunities for the South West Food and Drink Industry'. Speakers included Sylvia Jay, from the FDF and Jeremy Pope, who spoke about 'How Innovation is helping the South West Dairy Industry compete in a global marketplace'. Note 'compete in the global marketplace'.

Also speaking were Lord Haskins the 'advisor to the Government,' whose ex-company Northern Foods fought a battle to stop Melton Mowbray pies being given 'protected geographical indication status' by the EU. The status is a way for regional producers across Europe to protect their identity and a key way to promote regional food. Haskins himself has attacked the scheme.

Then came Paul Freeston the Chief Executive of Apetitio on 'Apetito – A South West success story' – the keynote speaker. Apetito's UK subsidiary may be based in the South-West, but it is a part of the Apetito group, one of Europe's leading suppliers of frozen food and catering meals with its head office located in Germany. Its subsidiary is Wiltshire Farm Foods, a home delivery service. One delegate noted that 'When asked what percentage of ingredients used in "Wiltshire Farm" foods is actually sourced from the South West, Freeston was unable to supply a figure or even name a single supplier. 'We buy beef from South America and chicken from Thailand' he said, 'where the quality is very good'.<sup>78</sup>

So is Wiltshire Farm food from a farm or even from Wiltshire? The company explains: 'Wiltshire Farm Foods is a trademark of Apetito ltd. The majority of our products are produced at our EU approved factory in Trowbridge, Wiltshire. A number of cold desserts are produced by other suppliers in the UK and Europe. We source our ingredients from a wide range of approved suppliers in the UK and world-wide'. <sup>79</sup>

Is this the kind of business model that reconnects consumers with what they eat in a sustainable and local way, delegates were left pondering? Maybe they thought the connection could come from Richard Hunter – the managing Director of SWFD who told delegates about his success in marketing the '70 second' burger as part of the Rustlers brand microwavable snack

So here was public money sponsoring an event with a large trade federation that looks after the interests of the supermarkets and big food. But the concept of reconnection or healthy eating or local food was not on the table for discussion.

The conference was a perfect example of what is happening at a national scale. Those that control British agriculture see supermarkets and global sourcing as the way forward. The FDF, which co-sponsored the conference, calls itself the voice of the UK food and drink manufacturing industry<sup>80</sup>. It represents the powerful companies who control what you eat and has been repeatedly criticised by consumer groups for various stances on food and farming issues, including obesity.

The FDF has been working with other supermarket lobby groups and the NFU on the Curry Commission. In 2001 Sylvia Jay conceded there was a forum 'which brings together the Presidents and Directors General of the four key groupings along the food chain- Food Drink Federation, the NFU, the British Retail Consortium and the Institute of Grocery Distribution. This group has been meeting regularly since the spring and, for example, was able to agree a common stance on the Independent Commission on Food and Farming [Curry Commission].'81

Here was an admission that the NFU was working with the supermarket and big manufacturers on a 'common stance' on Curry. Former Safeway spin-doctor Kevin Hawkins heads the BRC, whose members are from the retail trade including the supermarkets<sup>82</sup>. They all see supermarkets as the solution to the crisis in British agriculture.

They have also worked closely to fight against government regulation on diet and obesity. The FDF is against a ban on advertising of junk food to children to fight obesity<sup>83</sup>. The FDF and NFU were identified in May 2004 by *The Guardian* as being key players in a huge 'lobbying campaign in Whitehall to see off growing pressure for regulation to tackle obesity and diet-related diseases'. According to leaked documents Sylvia Jay from the FDF went to see the Public Health Minister, Melanie Johnson. 'Minutes of the meeting show that the FDF took the opportunity to tell the minister that the industry would oppose any proposals to reduce fat and sugar in foods along the lines of the work being done to reduce salt', recorded *The Guardian*.<sup>84</sup>

The close collaboration between the organisations continues. Look at a copy of the NFU's 2004 Annual Review and Sylvia Jay, from the FDF and Kevin Hawkins from the BRC are there. 'Our fortunes are directly linked with those of UK farmers', says Jay. 'The very idea of

a partnership between the national farmers' organisation and the leading retailers trade association may strike some farmers as a contradiction in terms', writes Hawkins<sup>85</sup>. Ironically many farmers would agree.

# 4.5 Attempts to 'Reconnect Farmers' Have Been Thwarted

In an ideal world, those people working independently to support British agriculture would be supported by those at the top of British agriculture. However, there is evidence that attempts to undertake marketing campaigns to promote British agriculture to consumers have been stymied by the NFU and its close associates.

The first comes from Michael Hart, from the Small and Family Farms Alliance, who ran a roadshow in the late nineties. Hart argues that it was only because of his efforts that the NFU decided to undertake a farming road-show nationally. Even then: 'It wasn't about promoting agriculture it was more about promoting the NFU to its members – it also had Sainsburys' written all over it'. The NFU also took control.

Another person who the NFU have shunned is marketing specialist Alison Fogg, who has tried unsuccessfully for three years to launch a major marketing campaign to promote British produce to the British consumer and counter the £200 million a year that supermarkets spend advertising their own brands. Her vision was to build a communications strategy, just like Curry talked about at the October 2005 IGD conference. Only her idea had been born three years before. Fogg is not light-weight, either. Her track-record included working with the Banks: Barclays; Nat West, Commercial Union; working with NGOs such as Oxfam; Shelter; RSPB and NSPCC; working with giants like BT, and Orange as well as the supermarkets: Sainsburys, Tesco, Waitrose and M&S.

Having set up a company called British Agriculture Marketing with Northumberland farmer, John Cresswell, the idea for a consumer based marketing magazine gained support from leading farming organisations, leading organic company Yeo Valley, and regional food groups. 'In essence the idea was to educate or encourage British consumers to value British produce over foreign produce', says Cresswell.

In January 2003, Fogg had a meeting with Donald Curry to try and get his approval. 'We presented all our communications ideas and strategy. Curry referred us back to the NFU'. She met him again at the Royal Show in 2003. 'He only pointed us back to the NFU or Red Tractor'. The NFU refused to help. They tried others that have benefited from Curry's reforms asking them for money. All refused. So did the supermarkets.

'Every avenue I went down seemed to be blocked', says Fogg. 'What makes me angry is that the industry players who are purporting to support the farmers are not'. Shunned by the NFU, Fogg was eventually commissioned to write a marketing strategy for the Tenants Farmers Association and National Beef Association. Her 150 page report was published in January 2005. <sup>86</sup> But was this marketing specialist invited by Sir Don Curry to the IGD's October conference, where he argued that a marketing and communications strategy was important? Of course not.

John Cresswell is also bitter at the experience: 'There is a cabal, I think between NFU, supermarkets and government and the academic / quasi academic people such as the Food

Chain Centre. Essentially what we hadn't understood is that we were rattling that industry. These guys don't want us to build a relationship with British consumers – it is contrary to their interests. I had been a naive enough to think that there was some common ground'.

# 4.6 A Flawed Response To the Consumer - The Little Red Tractor

Another key element of the NFU's marketing strategy includes the promotion of the Little Red Tractor – the British Assurance mark. A recommendation of the Curry Commission, it was launched by the government in June 2000. All the major supermarkets support it.<sup>87</sup>

It is meant to unify all the different assurance schemes and help the British consumer choose a British product with a clean bill of health with a clear conscience. You may have seen the logo, but do you actually know what it means? Does it guarantee British produce? No. The Red Tractor is not 'an indication of the country of origin of the food or its ingredients', <sup>88</sup> it just guarantees produce that conforms to the British standard. So a supermarket can import produce and stick a red tractor logo on it. So far strawberries from Egypt, lettuce from Spain, chicken from Holland and legs of lamb from New Zealand have all shown the Red Tractor logo. <sup>89</sup>

TV chef Antony Worrall-Thompson helped launch the logo but commented after a New Zealand leg of lamb was found at the Sainsbury stand at the Royal Show: 'I thought that I was supporting a great British product, but I'm not. It's very deceptive'. 90

Others agree: Norman Bagley from the Association of Independent Meat Suppliers says the logo 'has absolutely no credibility and only acts as a conduit for turning imported meat into so-called British product'<sup>91</sup>. Or it could be used to turn imported produce into convenience food. For example, the magazine *Farm Brief* noted: 'the latest import appearing on supermarket shelves is biscuits. Naturally, it qualifies for the famous Red Tractor Logo since it is imported into the UK in loose bulk form and packed in east London'. <sup>92</sup>

Others question the logo further. Friends of the Earth argues that it does not 'provide any real assurance that the food is produced to any higher standard than other food ... it may even be produced to lower standards'. The Soil Association maintains that changes to the guidelines means that chickens can 'receive daily doses of antibiotic growth promoters, which were previously not allowed under the scheme. Ompassion in World Farming (CIWF) even run a website called 'Redtractortruth.org', that raises serious animal welfare issues such as up to 19 chickens allowed in a square metre. CIWF are really concerned that people will see the Red Tractor and think that the scheme promotes high welfare, but it does not.

Some farmers argue assurance schemes are an unnecessary burden that ultimately gives power to the people who own the logo, especially if subsidies are linked to them. Michael Hart from the Small and Family Farms Association says 'If you have to have farm assurance – the company that owns the farm assurance schemes are going to have control of that market'.

So who does own the Red Tractor? Log on to the littleredtractor.org and it says that 'it is run by an independent chairman and board of directors' and an independent body Assured Food Standards, that is 'owned by the food chain'.<sup>96</sup>

But who registered the domain, http://www.redtractor.org? The NFU. Who owns the trademark for the British Farm Standard that includes the Red Tractor Logo? The NFU. Who appointed the licensing authority? The NFU. <sup>97</sup> Who applied for and was granted an updated trademark in May 2004 for the Red Tractor logo? The NFU. <sup>98</sup> This was months after all control of the Red Tractor was supposedly given to Assured Food Standards.

No wonder everyone is confused. Recent surveys have found that 'More than half of young managers working in the grocery industry admit they do not know what the Little Red Tractor logo stands for'<sup>99</sup> and of the consumers who recognised the logo, only 2% knew what it meant. Undeterred the NFU launched a new marketing initiative called the 'Promise Campaign' to boost the Red Tractor in the Summer of 2004, with a total budget of £37,000. 100

Farmers were asked for personal guarantees about farming practices many of which consumers might have thought were routine. 'We promise to give our beef cattle dry and comfortable bedding'. In December 2004 the winner of the NFU's Promises competition, was named after coming up with the winning promise: 'I promise to treat each of my cows as she deserves: molly-coddled, manicured and milked.' 101

But the achilles heel of the logo is that it does not guarantee the food is British, only that it is produced to British farm standards. Despite this in April 2005 the logo was re-launched with the 'Union flag a clear part of the new symbol'. Who owns the new logo? The NFU.<sup>102</sup>

According to Assured Food Standards' Head of Marketing, Bev Wilson 'The new logo is a powerful expression of Red Tractor values. It offers reassurance about origin and traceability throughout the food chain. And symbolises the delivery of safe and conscientiously produced food'. Three months later, Assured Food Standards had to counter persistent accusations that Brazilian beef was being sold under the Red Tractor. 104

#### 4.7 Real Local Food Initiatives Have Also Been Thwarted

Before the Foot and Mouth outbreak in the UK in 2001, there were essentially two different philosophies underpinning British agriculture. There was the 'local food movement' where you had a myriad of bottom-up grassroots initiatives, box schemes, farmers' markets, direct selling, co-operatives, local food groups and farm shops that were already trying to connect the farmer with the consumer.

Then, the mainstream supermarket controlled retail market, where farmers were selling into the mainstream retail or convenience food sector, to supermarkets or for export, with their businesses trying to compete on an international scale.

Surveys have shown that 90% of consumers would prefer to shop at a farmers market rather than a supermarket. We have tried to track the £500 million that is being invested in British food and farming. If those in charge of British agriculture invested money in proportion to people's wishes then the vast majority of it would be for alternative food and farming systems, where there is a direct connection between consumer and farmer. This is not happening.

Instead millions has been invested into new institutions whose primary role is concerned with 'increased competitiveness' 'efficiency' or 'benchmarking' – all philosophies that essentially benefit the supermarket system and that of big food.

Let's look at the example of farmers' markets, that are a deliberately separate modus operandi of food production and consumption. The food is grown locally and sold within a 30-mile radius of where it is produced. They offer a direct connection between farmer and consumer. They were promoted in Curry's report as 'a successful way forward'.

So what happened when the pioneering organisation NAFM – the National Association of Farmers' Markets – applied for £150,000 funding for three years from Defra? In November 2001, Lord Whitty, the Government's Spokesperson for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, addressed the annual conference of the Farm Retail Association, one of the founder members of NAFM. Whitty asked the question 'What is the Government doing to support rural food businesses?' He outlined five key areas:

- Support Food From Britain including £1.7 million to aid post-FMD recovery;
- Encouraging supermarkets to source more local produce;
- Research into tourists attitudes on regional foods;
- Encourage development of farmer's markets and providing funding to NAFM;
- Countryside Agency's 'Eat the View'.

Whitty enthused about farmers' markets that were a 'perfect opportunity' for the link between farmer and consumer to develop. 'By selling direct to consumers, producers can get the full consumer price, save on packaging and transport costs and get instant feedback about their product from their customers'. <sup>106</sup>

Seven months later, in the summer of 2002, and just months after the Curry report had been published, NAFM wrote to Defra asking for funding. The reply from Defra was negative. That September NAFM approached Lord Whitty directly. The Association's letter argued that 'There is a real risk that NAFM will cease to exist within 5 months unless we can secure Government support. This would be another bad blow for farming and the countryside ... They have been a lifeline for small farmers and a key component of the move towards direct selling and local food. They have helped regenerate markets in small and large towns. They have established new links and new dialogue between town and country'.

NAFM were given a meeting with Lord Whitty himself in December 2002. NAFM's PowerPoint was certainly persuasive. It outlined NAFM's achievements:

6,000 producers selling at 450 markets

Certification: target of 150 certified, 50 in process

Membership: 220 and rising Website: 1m hits annually Regional tourism leaflets Seasonal and other promotions

General ongoing interest and press response Markets themselves in control of NAFM

Recovery following FMD

......achieved very cost effectively with Coordinator and 1.5 other staff

Whitty and Defra refused the funding request in December 2002, despite Whitty's personal commitment to fund farmer's markets nationally (see above). Steve Bendle the Chief Executive of Envolve, one of NAFM's founder organisations was outraged: 'I cannot understand why the government cannot see that a tiny amount of money put into NAFM was not fantastic value for money. Why didn't they want to give £50,000 to one of the few good stories around? It's a mystery'.

NAFM was forced to merge with the Farm Retail Association, causing a split within the board and the resignation of its key member of staff. Defra helped fund some of the costs of the merger, which they argue has 'created a more effective body' that has 'retained the best qualities of both separate organisations'.<sup>107</sup>

This is disputed by Stephen Bendle, who sees a fundamental and clear difference between the philosophies of the two organisations. Farmers' markets only sell local produce – normally around 30 miles from the market, whereas the Farm Retail Association whose members sell through farm shops, can sell anything as long as there is a local component.

'The two philosophies do not really work well together', says Bendle. 'The Farm Retail Association was set up by the NFU. What they are trying to do is give farmers an alternative income. If what you are selling from your farm shop is not all year round, [and] then over the winter you have to sell bananas and kiwi fruit, then that does not matter as long as there is a local component. That is a perfectly legitimate form of business. But within that you cannot fit the "we are determined to sell local come-what-may ethic" as it is a slippery slope'. It is a slippery slope that erodes the whole philosophy of local food and food miles and the local food movement.

In September 2003 Defra's 'Policy Paper on Local Food' was released. Item 36, says that at 'at national Level, Defra will support the farmer's market movement nationally'. Defra supplied us a list of local food projects funded in line with this paper which did include positive projects and initiatives including funding for projects in Devon, Somerset, Cumbria and the New Forest, as well as initiatives on best practice and public sector procurement and research on food miles.

However, pioneering groups in Devon, Somerset and Cumbria say that funding is a huge problem. Paul Sander Jackson from Somerset Food Links argues that 'Regionally funds for local food projects have become harder to access rather than easier since Curry'.

The lack of funding for local food projects in the South West is even more perverse given the new quango – South West Food and Drink – that had been set up to actually help the food sector in the region. Meant to be a flagship organisation, it is seen by many in the local food movement as an unmitigated disaster, not only lavishing money on consultants fees, whilst strangling the local food sector and not funding consumer-marketing initiatives.

SWFD's accounts record that for 3 months one of the Directors was paid £36,700 'in respect of consultancy services' which works out at about £12,000 a month. This is slightly less than the average farm income for a whole year. Directors' emoluments for that period were an additional £22,647. Insiders have told us that one consultant was paid £800 a day for twenty days work.

A leaked copy of their budget 'bid summary' for public funding shows that organisation wanted £7,724,250. Yet when a consumer marketing initiative called 'British Agriculture Marketing' asked for £80,000 sponsorship to promote British agriculture to consumers, SWFD argued there 'is no money'. In later correspondence Jeremy Pope, on behalf of SWRDA / SWFD explained: 'The issue is budgetary rather than philosophical. Your financial inputs would absorb our entire budgets from Defra for regional food promotion'. Although it is unclear what budget SWFD had received by then, British Agriculture Marketing are convinced that SWFD had the money to fund them.

SWFD has been severely criticised for either not funding local food organisations or for taking so long to reply that the organisations have become financially nonviable. 'SWFD has become a barrier rather than a conduit for funding- after two years you really have to ask what it has done to help the food industry in the South West", argues Carol Trewin, ex Cornwall Manager for Taste of the West, one of the subsidiary organisations under SWFD. Trewin argues that "Local food initiatives have been strangled by SWFD's inability to make the system work".

One such group is the South West Local Food Partnership (SWLFP), a coalition of local food groups that folded as a result of SWFD's inability to fund it. Paul Sander Jackson, the Head of Somerset Food Links is the ex-Chair of the Partnership. He sat on SWFD's board. 'Because of not being able to access funding through SWFD, the SWLFP is currently unable to trade, and has had to sack two co-ordinators due to lack of funding. It got to the point that the organisation was not able to meet its commitments'.

Another SWFD insider says simply: 'There is the corporate economic based mindset and then there is the social and environmental and sustainable development mindset and the two haven't been well balanced'. It is the prominence of the big food neo-liberal mindset that has hampered progress on local food.

# 4.8 Farmgate Prices Remain Low

The raw muscle of supermarkets means that for many farmers or small suppliers the supermarkets can push down prices to below or near cost of production. This is most acute with the dairy industry. It costs the UK dairy farmer between 18 and 23 pence to produce a litre of milk and yet, since 2000, average farmgate milk prices have varied between 16 and 20 pence per litre. Therefore, on average, farmgate prices are not high enough to cover farmers' costs <sup>108</sup>

In 2000, a new organisation Farmers for Action (FFA) was formed to tackle the continuing low milk price and NFU's failure to act. A rival to the NFU, its members started undertaking direct action by physically blocking the entrances to supermarkets. One of the founders, Somerset farmer Derek Mead argues that their negotiations, which were progressing well with the supermarkets, were scuppered by the NFU. They had had a positive response from Safeways and Waitrose. 'Then we started to deal with Sainsburys, Tesco and Asda and walked straight into a blocked wall. The blocked wall was created by the NFU,' he alleges.

Leaked notes about the protests written by the Dairy Industry Federation that represents what you could call 'big milk' - the interests of the milk processors and manufacturers of dairy products - noted that 'the basic strategy of the Farmers for Action group has been to try and

increase the return to farmers from the liquid market'. The notes also noted that the NFU felt 'disconcerted' that the supermarkets might talk to FFA, rather than going through the NFU.

Secret minutes leaked to SpinWatch of a meeting held on 24<sup>th</sup> March 2000 between the Dairy Industry Federation and the NFU show that the NFU promised the milk trade that they would not give Farmers for Action any support, even though the protestors were trying to increase the price of milk for farmers. Their minutes note: 'There was a quick discussion about the activities of Derek Mead and the farmers' blockades'.

Richard Macdonald, the Director General of the NFU, was also at the meeting. Macdonald is not a farmer, but the ultimate NFU insider, having joined the organisation in the late 1970s as a parliamentary lobbyist and adviser. By the late eighties he was their South West Regional Director, becoming Director General in July 1996. He is also Chairman and a Director of the Board of Associa Ltd, a joint company with NFU Mutual. <sup>109</sup>

The minutes show that Macdonald then 'stressed the difficulty this presented for the NFU, particularly as one of the organisers, Richard Haddock, was an NFU Council Member. There was serious anxiety from farmers about the state of affairs'. It then noted that the Dairy Industry Federation 'were fully supportive of the NFU in giving the unofficial protestors no encouragement.' When Ben Gill arrived late for the meeting he 'deplored the letter from Richard Haddock to the Farmer's Weekly and in the FW editorial (which encouraged the unofficial protests).'

The dairy industry remains in crisis. On the 8<sup>th</sup> June 2004 the Select Committee on Environment, Food and Rural Affairs published its long awaited report into the dairy industry. It made stark reading: 'UK dairy farmers are in a financially difficult position and have been experiencing low incomes since the deregulation of the dairy market in 1994'.

The MPs noted the continuing problems for farmers regarding the power of the supermarkets and the lack of a strong Competition Commission code of conduct. There 'remains a fundamental imbalance of negotiating strength between supermarkets and most of their suppliers. The code appears to have been ineffective in redressing this imbalance, at least in respect of the dairy supply chain'. 110

But does the NFU agree that supermarkets were to blame? No. Does it support the continuing protests by FFA? No. Robin Tapper, the head of NFU's food and farming department argued in the summer of 2004 that 'Retailers have responded positively to farmers' demands. They haven't been driving prices down so it's difficult to reconcile their sensible approach with the latest protests'. 111

#### 4.9 The NFU is Too Close to the Supermarkets

Robin Tapper heads the NFU's work on supermarkets. Before moving to the NFU, he was employed at Sainsburys for over a decade. When he moved to the NFU to work on marketing he replaced Helen Lo, who was also ex-Sainsburys and who farmers 'accused of being too kindly-disposed towards her former employer, Sainsburys'.<sup>112</sup>

The NFU is not a member of the Breaking the Armlock Alliance and continues to advocate a 'voluntary code', much to the dismay of other farming organisations such as the Tenant

Farmers Association or the National Sheep Association's John Thorley: 'The supermarkets dominate the retail end. The only way they can move forward is by screwing the primary producer. A voluntary code, as time goes on, has proven to be totally useless'.

Moreover, the NFU has been actively undermining Somerset farmer Derek Mead, who is pushing for a statutory code and undermining a statutory code itself. On the eve of Tesco's AGM in 2004, Mead teamed up with Friends of the Earth to attack Tesco and argue that 'voluntary codes meant to protect suppliers and workers are ineffective'. 113

In response, the NFU circulated an internal 'Newsflash' obtained by SpinWatch. It read: 'Friends' of the Earth will present to MPs a report claiming that Tesco is damaging communities, putting local shops out of business and threatening the livelihoods of many UK farmers. The press release contains comments from Derek Mead, named in the press release as a member of the NFU Council for Somerset'.

The NFU argued it did not 'endorse' FoE or Mead's comments and that 'It is more important than ever before that the NFU maintains close working relationships throughout the food chain. As the largest customer of British agriculture in the UK, Tesco remains a key partner.' 114

Whilst the NFU does not necessarily have to endorse the comments of a particular Council Member, here in print was an admission from the NFU that it sees the supermarkets as the consumer. When Curry said that British agriculture had to reconnect to the British consumers, he meant the general public, but for the NFU, it is the supermarkets.

Mead also had his own amendment for a statutory code blocked by the NFU upper crust at the Council Meeting in May 2004. The following month, the NFU Policy Board on which Macdonald sits, met to undermine the concept of a statutory code and push their 'voluntary code'. Leaked minutes show that 'it would be helpful if examples of other statutory schemes which had *not* worked were included in the paper'. It looks like the NFU was deliberately seeking out to show that statutory schemes on supermarkets did not work, and that voluntary ones do.

The NFU's alternative voluntary code, called the 'Buyers Charter', included proposals 'whereby grievances between a buyer and a supplier can be heard, in the first instance at company level'. So if a supplier has a problem they take it to the company, with all the continuing problems of blacklisting. Not surprisingly the Charter was widely condemned by environmental groups and farmers alike.

But it was praised by Tim Bennett, the NFU's President, in a speech to the IGD in October in 2004: 'The NFU is currently working with our food chain partners in FDF, BRC and the food service sector to develop a "Buyers Charter" which we hope will provide a framework for good business practice and the development of sustainable, transparent, accountable business partnerships.' Critics argue it will be neither sustainable nor transparent, but toothless. John Redmond, the former county chair of Somerset NFU argues that 'The fact that the NFU won't support a statutory code for the supermarkets just shows how close they are to the supermarkets'. Many NFU members believe that the NFU is too close for comfort.

# 5 In Spite of Curry There Have Been Successes.

Has the Curry Commission resulted in substantial funding of local food groups and farmers' markets? No. Has it led to a champion for local food? No. The press release from the Curry Commission argued for a 'new national champion for "local" food, to assist this exciting new market expand'. Has this happened? No. Has it led to a reversal in the fortunes of British dairy farmers? No. Or beef farmers? No. Has it reconnected the British consumer with farmers? No. In fact what has happened is consolidated neo-liberal control into the hands of big food and the supermarkets.

Despite this, the local food movement has been expanding despite the lack of funding. Take farmers' markets: in the last two years the number of farmers' markets has increased from 200 to 450, a rise of 125%. Their turnover is £166 million - more than double the amount just two years ago. 117

The demand for organic food is growing at a huge rate too – some £2 million a week. But most importantly consumers are reconnecting with farmers on their own. According to the Soil Association in 2003 sales through box schemes, farmers' markets and farm shops grew faster than any other retail outlet at 16 per cent. Box scheme sales have increased by over 20 per cent. The trend has accelerated. In 2004, organic food sales through box schemes, farm shops and farmers' markets increased by 33%. In contrast the main supermarkets saw their share fall from 81% to 75% as consumers become more concerned about food miles, packaging and provenance. There are notable success stories. For example, Riverford, the award-winning organic farm in Devon, is expanding its business rapidly using a non-supermarket model of growth via franchising.

But still award-winning farmers' markets continue to struggle. The BBC Radio Four Food Programme's best farmers market for 2004 was Orton Farmers Market, co-ordinated by Jane Brook, who runs two markets. The first is in the small community of Orton in the Eden Valley in Cumbria, the second a summer pilot scheme on the shores of Ullswater in the Lake District. 'We started the market in 2000 with borrowed equipment and a £250 start up grant from the Countryside Agency and £250 from the District Council', recalls Brook.

Over a two and a half period Brook attracted some £42,000 in grants, most of which had to be match funded. The market became a roaring success. 'We exceeded all our targets', says Brook. 'The market grew from 300 to 1500 (occasionally as much as 3000) customers and from 12 to 45 producers. The income generated for the local economy as a result of the market grew from £45,000 per annum to £150,000 per annum. We were the first accredited market in the country. 63% of the producers come from within 20 miles of the village and 25% from within 5 miles'.

Food writer, Rick Stein, named four of the regular producers as Food Heroes. 'In terms of impact we have probably enabled ten new businesses to set up and are helping to sustain a further 32', argues Brook. Urged by funders, Brook put in for further funding requests, but has not been successful. 'All I can say is that now I can't access any money'.

As local food pioneers such as Brook continue to struggle for funding, a whole array of post-Curry initiatives promote solutions that can only help the supermarket and not the small farmer. None of these addresses the power of the supermarkets, which is set to intensify. None address the flood of imports, which is set to increase. None will address the low farmgate price paid for many products, especially milk.

British farming will have no future unless the power of the supermarkets is addressed and unless farmers receive a fair price for their produce. But to the people in the cabal the supermarkets are the solution. To everyone else they are the problem. In that essence Curry has failed.

As long as the NFU and its allies continue to direct funding and resources that benefit supermarkets then British farming will die a slow painful death. As long as supermarkets are seen as consumers and not the 60 million British public, then British agriculture will continue to be in trouble

Every week more and more shoppers are voting with their feet at small scale initiatives, shopping at a farmers market, farm shop or receiving a box scheme, changing British agriculture for the better. 'Farmers' markets like ours that are genuine really do have a contribution to make to the triple bottom line – to the environment, community and economy,' says Jane Brook from Orton Farmers market. 'We can ensure small business can grow. What is wrong about lots and lots of small initiatives – why does big have to be best'?

#### References

```
<sup>1</sup> http://www.igd.com/CIR.asp?menuid=9&cirid=1716.
```

http://www.bseinquiry.gov.uk/files/ws/s487.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Phillips, Lord, Bridgeman, J and Ferguson-Smith, Professor M (2000) The BSE Inquiry Report. Evidence and Supporting Papers of the Inquiry into the Emergence and Identification of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE) and Variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease (vCJD) and the Action Taken in Response to it up to 20 March 1996, The Stationery Office, London, October, Vol. One P159; Vol. 6, p 647.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Financial Times (1993) "Curry Takes Top Meat Job", 3 November, p15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Grocer (1994) "MLC Chairman Don Curry Is Appointed To Council Of Food From Britain For 3 Years", 25 June, p63

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CMP Information Ltd (1997) Farming News, 5 September, p4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.cabinet-office.gov.uk/farming/pdf/pr.doc.

<sup>8</sup> http://www.defra.gov.uk/news/2002/020719c.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> B. Russell (2004) "Supermarkets Are Accused Of Creaming Off Farmers' Profits", *The Independent*, 24

http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,12784,1360234,00.html.

<sup>11</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,12784,1574760,00.html.

<sup>12</sup> http://news.independent.co.uk/business/news/article324091.ece

http://www.competition-commission.org.uk/rep\_pub/reports/2000/446super.htm#summary; http://www.foe.co.uk/resource/press releases/oftblow to farmers in supe 20022004.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Report of the Policy Commission on the Future of Farming and Food (2002) January, p33.

<sup>15</sup> http://www.oft.gov.uk/news/press+releases/2004/28-04.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The Grocer (2004) "Definition Was 'A Huge Flaw", 12 June, p5.

<sup>17</sup> J. Wood & E. Watson (2004) "The Big C-Store Sell-Off", *The Grocer*, 21 August, p34-35.

<sup>18</sup> http://observer.guardian.co.uk/business/story/0,,1366628,00.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> http://news.independent.co.uk/business/news/article316137.ece.

The Grocer (2004) "Bowes Calls for Regulation", 23 October, p10.

The Grocer (2004) "Independents Push OFT to Act", 2 October, p4.

E. Watson (2004) "No, the OFT Just Can't See it", The Grocer, 6 November, p4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> P. Anderson (2004) "Call for New OFT Action on Grocers", Farmers Weekly, 3-9 December, p14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,12784,1558387,00.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> http://news.independent.co.uk/business/news/article324091.ece

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> http://www.oft.gov.uk/News/Press+releases/2005/146-05.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,12784,1577617,00.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> I. Calderbank (2005) Letter to Farmer's Weekly, 26 August.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> A. Watts (2005) "NFU Charter Moves Forward", Farmers Weekly, 15 August, p2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> J. Ridley (2005) "NFU Insists Its Charter is 'Best Way Forward'", Farmer's Weekly, 19 August, p10.

<sup>31</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/retail/story/0,,1635285,00.html;

http://www.guardian.co.uk/retail/story/0,,1604183,00.html

<sup>32</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/frontpage/story/0,,1639032,00.html

<sup>33</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,,1604428,00.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> NFU (2005) NFU Information & Analysis, 6 January

<sup>35</sup> Internal NFU document 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> NFU (2005) NFU Information & Analysis, 5 January

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Milk Development Council (2004) Dairy Supply Chain Margins 2003-4, p1

<sup>38</sup> http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,12784,1366648,00.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Milk Development Council (2004) Dairy Supply Chain Margins 2003-4, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> D. Colman & Y. Zhuang (2005) Changes in England and Wales Dairy Farming Since 2002/03: a Resurvey, Economic Studies, School of Social Sciences Center for Agricultural, Food and Resource Economics (CAFRE), University of Manchester, July.

41 NFU Scotland (2005) *Price War Killing Scottish Dairy Industry*, Press Release, 21 September.

<sup>42</sup> http://www.nfu.org.uk/stellentdev/groups/public/documents/farming facts/agriculturalrevie ia412f45c1-1.hcsp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> A. Watts & P. Clarke (2004) "Farm Incomes Slide for 2004", Farmers Weekly, 3-9 December, p7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> J. Tasker (2005) Specialise or Diversify? Farmers Weekly, 15 August, p6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> A. Shirley (2004) "Record High For Farm Debt", Farmers Weekly, 12 – 18 November, p17.

<sup>46</sup> http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk news/4402156.stm

```
<sup>47</sup> A. Watts & P. Clarke (2004) "Farm Incomes Slide for 2004", Farmers Weekly, 3-9 December, p7.
```

MLC Economics (2005) European Market Survey, 12 August.

- http://www.bbc.co.uk/radio4/news/farmingtoday/index.shtml Farming Today, 13 October

  P. Anderson & A. Shirley (2004) "Shopping Share Tumbles", *Farmer's Weekly*, 23-29 April, p6.

  NFU (2004) NFU Information and Analysis, 22/23 March.

  The Grocer (2004) "Tesco Buys More Irish", 25 September, p8.

- <sup>54</sup> R. Clarke (2004) "Flag Up Domestic Virtues NBA", *The Grocer*, 16 October, p68.

55 http://www.igd.com/downloads/Curry%20Report.pdf.

- <sup>56</sup> K. Martyn (2002) Letter to Ben Gill, ~April.
- 57 http://www.somerset.foodlinks.org.uk/
- http://www.foodchaincentre.com/CIR.asp?cid=30&type=3&subtype=8.
- <sup>59</sup> http://www.igd.com/CIR.asp?menuid=146&cirid=1580#programme.
- 60 http://www.foodchaincentre.com/CIR.asp?cid=53&type=3&subtype=8.
- 61 http://www.foodchaincentre.com/CIR.asp?cid=40&type=3&subtype=8.
- 62 http://www.foodchaincentre.com/CIR.asp?cid=36&type=3&subtype=8.
- 63 http://www.cf.ac.uk/carbs/lom/lerc/research/progs.html.
- 64 http://www.cf.ac.uk/carbs/research/fpiu/.
- 65 http://www.foodchaincentre.com/CIR.asp?cid=42&type=3&subtype=8; Farmers Guardian (2004) "New
- Survey Reveals Supply Chain Savings", 11 June, p89. 66 http://www.defra.gov.uk/news/2005/051014b.htm
- 67 http://www.defra.gov.uk/news/2004/040504b.htm.
- 68 http://www.southwestrda.org.uk/about/board/board-members/jeremy-pope.shtm
- 69 http://www.guardian.co.uk/supermarkets/story/0,12784,1184977,00.html.
- <sup>70</sup> http://www.shetlandseafoodnews.com/may04/latest\_may04\_news.html.
- <sup>71</sup> M. Pearce (2004) "Time to Stock UK Products", Letter to Farmers Weekly, 20-26 August, p64.

http://www.effp.com/StellentEFFPLIVE/groups/public/documents/press\_releases/majorfoodcompaniesj\_ia4366 34e3.hcsp

- 73 http://www.foodfrombritain.com/servlet/dycon/ffbuk/ffb/FFB/en/Global/successes casestudies index.
- <sup>74</sup> http://www.soilassociation.org/web/sa/saweb.nsf/0/80256cad0046ee0c80256d8800309fc1?OpenDocument.
- <sup>75</sup> The Grocer (2004) "Green and Blacks", 2 October; The Grocer (2004) "Campaign Trail", 23 October, p71.
- <sup>76</sup> M. Stones (2004) "Promoting British Produce", Farmers Weekly, 13-19 August, p13; M. Stones (2004) "BFF Future is Under Threat", Farmers Weekly, 15-21 October, p15.
- http://www.britishfoodfortnight.co.uk/.
   Delegate (2004) Interviewed by Andy Rowell
- 79 http://www.wiltshirefarmfoods.com/main.asp?pg=3
- 80 http://www.fdf.org.uk/home.aspx.
- 81 http://www.bsb.org.uk/members/library/conferences/2001autumn/paper 460.htm.
- <sup>82</sup> The Grocer (2004) "Walking the Talk", 3 April, p40-41.
- 83 https://www.fdf.org.uk/showdoc/openpr2.aspx?id=75
- 84http://society.guardian.co.uk/publichealth/story/0,11098,1224943,00.html

http://www.nfuonline.com/stellentdev/groups/press/documents/policypositions/annualreview2004\_ia422f14d1.p

- <sup>86</sup> http://www.tenant-farmers.org.uk/tfa/farmingmarketingstrategy.pdf.
- 87 http://www.defra.gov.uk/news/newsrel/2000/000613a.htm.
- 88 http://www.foodstandards.gov.uk/foodlabelling/claimsonlabels/labelclaimfarmassurance.
- <sup>89</sup> The Grocer (2000) "British Meat Manufacturers' Association: Put High Standards", 21<sup>st</sup> October

- <sup>92</sup> Farm Brief (2004) "Biscuit Imports to Boost Export Need", 6 May, Vol 9; No 15.
- http://www.foe.co.uk/resource/briefings/greening red tractor.pdf
- 94 http://www.soilassociation.org/web/sa/saweb.nsf/0/80256ad80055454980256c41004dd811?OpenDocument
- 95 http://www.ciwf.org.uk/littleredtractor/Farm Assurance Schemes.htm.
- <sup>96</sup> www.littleredtractor.org.uk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Farmers Weekly (2004) "Relying on Food Imports too Risky", 12-18 November, p5; I. Davies (2004) "Food Imports up – And it'll Get Worse", Farmers Weekly, 12 – 18 November, p6.

97 www.assuredchicken.org.uk/chickens/ newsletter14may2003.pdf.

98 See UK Patents Office Trade Mark 2364438

- <sup>99</sup> *The Grocer* (2004) "Little Red What?" 17 January.
  <sup>100</sup> P. Anderson (2004) Red Tractor's Second Coming, *Farmers Weekly*, 27 August 2 September, p 9.
  <sup>101</sup> *Farmers Weekly*, (2004) "NFU Picks Winning Red tractor Pledge", 3-9 December, p 7.

<sup>102</sup> See UK Patent Office Trade Mark 2391888

- 103 http://www.redtractor.org.uk/site/rt\_release.php?section\_id=2&page\_id=9#.
- <sup>104</sup> I. Frood (2005) "Red Tractor Has Not Been Hijacked", Letter to Farmers Weekly, 1 July.
- <sup>105</sup> P. Anderson (2004) Public Support For Farmers' Markets, Farmers Weekly, 3-9 September, p13.

106 http://www.defra.gov.uk/corporate/ministers/speeches/lw121101.htm.

- <sup>107</sup> S. Johnson (2004) Defra Support for the Local Food Sector in Line with Paragraph 36 of Our Local Food Policy Paper, Defra, 29 July.
- http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200304/cmselect/cmenyfru/335/33507.htm.

http://www.nfu.org.uk/stellentdev/groups/press/@published/documents/biography/director richardm ia422c896

- http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200304/cmselect/cmenvfru/335/33507.htm.
- <sup>111</sup> The Grocer (2004) "Action Wins Concessions", 24 July, p8.
- 112 C. Rundle (2002) "Helen's Successor Still Has a Sting in the Tail", Western Daily Press, 30
- http://www.foe.co.uk/resource/briefings/every little hurts.pdf.
- 114 H. Biggs (2004) NFU Newsflash to RPROs/Regional Directors/Policy Advisors/BAB, 15 June.

http://www.nfu.org.uk/stellentdev/groups/press/@published/documents/policypositions/igdconferencespeech ia 41752d45.hcsp.

- http://www.cabinet-office.gov.uk/farming/pdf/pr.doc.
- 117 ttp://www.nfu.org.uk/stellentdev/groups/public/documents/farming facts/farmersmarkets-ab ia412f45c7-
- 118 http://www.soilassociation.org/web/sa/saweb.nsf/librarytitles/1B316.html.
- http://www.guardian.co.uk/food/Story/0,,1642057,00.html